# Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:	
	04/19/2022
Colleen M. Anderson	Date

# A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences and Well-Being of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Actors During the Ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic

By

Colleen M. Anderson MPH

Hubert Department of Global Health

Bethany Caruso, PhD, MPH Committee Chair

# A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences and Well-Being of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Actors During the Ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic

By

Colleen M. Anderson Bachelor of Arts Boston College 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Bethany Caruso, PhD, MPH

An abstract of
A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health
in the Hubert Department of Global Health
2022

#### **Abstract**

A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences and Well-Being of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Actors During the Ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic

# By Colleen Anderson

COVID-19 is impacting the mental health of individuals. The mental health impacts and side effects of the ongoing pandemic are already apparent in the general population. Initiatives have already started to address the psychological impacts felt across society, and more specifically in frontline workers. There has been limited research to identify mental health impacts among other workers engaged in COVID-19 response, like those in development, to ensure their well-being. More specifically, individuals working in the water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) sector have been designing and implementing hygiene related interventions, which is a critical role in prevention and adherence to COVID-19 protocols and recommendations. Yet, the specific impact COVID-19 is having on WASH sector actors is unknown. The aim of this study was to explore the personal experiences and well-being of WASH actors around the globe as they have responded to the COVID-19 pandemic.

From October 2020 to August 2021, in depth interviews over Zoom were conducted with 26 WASH actors working in 13 different countries to better understand and explore their lived experiences and well-being during the ongoing pandemic.

Participants experienced both negative and positive impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, they perceived COVID-19 protocols, such as isolation and quarantine measures, as a source of anxiety, but also reported feeling increased connection and purpose as a positive side effect of the pandemic. Factors such as previous job roles, personality traits, family, staying active, and adopting new hobbies influenced the personal perception of how COVID-19 impacted their lives.

Findings of this study provide context surrounding the personal impacts experienced during the ongoing pandemic by WASH actors. Findings highlighted that both positive and negative impacts have occurred during the ongoing pandemic. Lessons learned can be used to support the well-being of actors in the WASH sector, and may also inform the development sector at large.

Word count: 304

# A Phenomenological Study of the Lived Experiences and Well-Being of Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Actors During the Ongoing COVID-19 Pandemic

By

Colleen M. Anderson

Bachelor of Arts Boston College 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Bethany Caruso, PhD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in the Hubert Department of Global Health 2022

# **Acknowledgements**

First and foremost, I would like to offer my sincere thanks and gratitude to Bethany Caruso, my thesis chair and so much more. Her constant guidance, advice, wisdom, and edits were invaluable as I embarked on this thesis journey. Additionally, I would like to thank the others members of the Emory and LSHTM COVID-19 Hygiene Hub Research Group for their ongoing support and assistance in developing this manuscript.

To my family, my partner, and my friends: thank you for your unwavering love and support throughout this program.

Finally, I must thank Nuestros Pequeños Hermanos Honduras for being the inspiration and driving force behind me pursuing a career in Global Health.

# **Table of Contents**

# Acronym List

Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
Abstract	1
Onset of COVID-19	1
COVID-19 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries	2
Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) and COVID Prevention	4
Water and Handwashing	
Mask Wearing	6
Quarantine and Isolation	6
Impact of the Pandemic	7
Mental and Emotional Health	7
Healthcare Workers	9
Elderly	11
College Students	12
WASH Actors	13
Impacts of Prior Emergencies, Disasters, Pandemics on Mental Health	13
SARS	13
Ebola	15
Swine Flu	16
Natural Disasters	
Conclusion	17
Chapter 2: Introduction	18
Chapter 3: Materials and Methods	
Study Design	20
Participants Eligibility and Recruitment	20
Data Collection and Management	
Data Analysis	
Ethics	23
Chapter 4: Results	<b>2</b> 4
Negative Mental Health Impacts	24
Isolation/Loneliness	
Anger/Frustration	25
Fear	26
Burnout	27
Positive Mental Health Impacts	
Connectedness	
Purpose	
Factors Influencing COVID-19 Personal Impacts	
Previous Job Roles	
Personality	
Family	30

Staying Active	31
New Hobbies	
Chapter 5: Discussion	32
Chapter 6: Public Health Implications	
References	36

# **Acronym List**

**CDC** Center for Disease Control and Prevention

**IDIs** In-Depth Interviews

LMICs Low- and Middle-Income Countries

NGO Non-Governmental Organization

UN United Nations

WASH Water, Sanitation & Hygiene

WHO World Health Organization

# **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

### **Abstract**

The purpose of this literature review is to highlight the similarities between Water,

Sanitation and Hygiene Actors (WASH) to frontline healthcare workers and to bring to attention
the growing negative repercussions on the mental health and overall wellbeing of individuals in
both groups. This review incorporates theoretical framework, historical lessons learned and
current research to highlight the need for more nuanced research to better understand the
personal impact of the ongoing pandemic.

#### **Onset of COVID-19**

COVID-19 catapulted the public health world into the hearts and minds of millions across the globe. In December of 2019, an outbreak of a novel virus compared to a pneumonia like disease, was reported in Wuhan, China (Ciotti et al., 2020). The onset of the disease rapidly progressed and globally as of 18 March 2022, there have been 464,809,377 confirmed cases of COVID-19 including 6,062,536 deaths reported by the World Health Organizations (WHO) (World Health Organization, 2022a). To slow the spread of the disease, prevention methods and recommendations have been made to communities, organizations, social networks, and individuals. Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, the initial prevention measures that were put into place were: social distancing, lockdown, isolation, and quarantine. These recommendations were being made to slow the spread of disease by infected individuals, as more information and understanding was gained about the virus, the prevention measures were altered to better reflect new information (Li et al., 2020).

Researchers have acknowledged the unique circumstances that frontline healthcare workers face due to their increased risk of COVID-19 exposure because of their occupational

duties. As a result, research has been done to better understand the consequences for frontline healthcare workers. Frontline healthcare workers are essential individuals providing direct patient care throughout the ongoing pandemic (Frontline Health Workers, 2014). These workers are an individual's first point of contact into the healthcare system. Nurses, doctors, and paramedics fall into this classification of frontline healthcare workers.

Water, Sanitation and Hygiene actors (WASH) may also be considered frontline healthcare workers, particularly those who work directly with communities to improve access to sanitation and handwashing facilities and establish protocols for controlling infections. In addition, a significant amount of WASH work occurs in fragile and emergency settings, meaning that that these WASH actors also have an increased exposure to COVID-19 due to their occupational duties and may serve as initial point of contact for communities when dealing with healthcare (UNICEF, 2021).

This literature review explores the prevention measures enacted to slow the spread of COVID-19 and the impact of the pandemic on mental and emotional health at the community level. The review draws upon historical lessons learned from previous health outbreaks and highlights the need for more wholistic infrastructure to better support WASH workers.

# **COVID-19 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs)**

COVID-19 continues to spread dramatically and to put strain on healthcare systems and healthcare professionals. Historically, comprehensive health systems in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs) have been inadequately resourced and understaffed (Atiyeh et al., 2010). LMICs currently account for 90% of the global burden of disease, but for only 12% of global spending on health (Peters et al., 2008). This results in a much lower work capacity in LMICs than in high income countries (Peters et al., 2008). In addition, people in poor countries

are double burdened as they have less access to the already limited health services (Peters et al., 2008). This then leads to the worsening of people's overall health, and then to lost income and higher health care costs, all of which negatively impact national economies (Peters et al., 2008). Overall, health is not only impacted by access to health resources, but also by access to food, water, sanitation, and other human assets (Peters et al., 2008).

Currently, healthcare systems of low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) are unable to cope with growing demands (Hamid et al., 2020). Individuals in LMICs are experiencing lower levels of adequate healthcare and cannot access medical facilities in a timely manner due to systemic barriers in place (Hamid et al., 2020). In addition, LMICs have a smaller healthcare workforce which further hampers accessibility (Hamid et al., 2020). The impact of COVID-19 on LMICs is expected to be significantly worse compared to most developed countries regarding both the short-term health impacts and long term social and economic impacts (Pasquale et al., 2021). High income countries are experiencing shortages of health personnel, ventilators, and personal protective equipment, whereas LMICs were already facing shortages and limited workforce capacity prior to COVID-19, thus it is therefore reasonable to expect worse outcomes due to the pandemic in LMICs (Pasquale et al., 2021).

Mental health care in LMICs is a growing concern. Approximately 85% of the world's population lives in the 153 LMICs (Rathod et al., 2017). Depressive disorders, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and substance use are in the top 10 of the disease burdens in LMICs (Rathod et al., 2017). In addition, LMICs have limited amounts of mental health care professionals. The global average is 3.96 psychiatrists per 100,000 people, whereas most LMICs of Asia and Africa have 0.301 to 0.04 psychiatrists per 100,000 people (Rathod et al., 2017), most of whom are in urban centers making them inaccessible to the rural population (Rathod et al., 2017).

LMICs are at a particularly high risk of becoming overburdened by COVID-19 because of the lack of public awareness around preventative measures coupled with the poor financial status of the country (Hamid et al., 2020). Many LMICs lack adequate hospital and emergency transportation infrastructure, however there is a large presence of strong community-based structures (Mor, 2020). LMICs benefit from the presence of these community-based organizations and nonprofit workers that in the past have filled in to address community need (Mor, 2020).

# Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) and COVID Prevention

Water, sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) are key for human health and wellbeing (UNICEF, 2021). Access to safe and reliable WASH is critical to individual health, living environment, and community well-being (UNICEF, 2021). Some countries cannot fund WASH services and therefore must rely on coordination between governments and development partners for implementation of resources (Strengthening Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (Wash) Systems, n.d.), resulting in large disparities when it comes to access to WASH.

The novelty of COVID-19 paired with its rapid spread, has forced governments both local and international to enact prevention measures. As more information has been gained surrounding COVID-19 transmission, prevention measures have been adjusted to better mitigate the risk of spread. SARS-CoV-2 primarily spreads from infected person to infected person through respiratory droplets from coughing, sneezing, or talking (Gwenzi, 2021), leading the World Health Organization to recommend increased frequency of hand washing, as well as mask wearing (WHO, 2020). These prevention measures fail to acknowledge the unequal distribution of services and resources and can further disenfranchise already marginalized communities.

## Water and Handwashing

Accessible and safe water is crucial for health, whether it be used for drinking, domestic use, food production, or recreational purposes (WHO & UNICEF, 2021). Currently, 785 million people lack basic drinking water, of those 144 million people are dependent on surface water (WHO & UNICEF, 2021). Contaminated drinking water has been known to cause an increase in water borne diseases as well as more bacterial, viral, and parasitic diseases (Pal et al., 2018). Globally, 2 million people use a drinking water source that is contaminated by feces. This contaminated water can transmit diseases and accounts for approximately 485,000 diarrheal deaths each year (WHO & UNICEF, 2021).

The inability to access safe water impacts how well individuals and communities can follow handwashing guidelines. According to WHO, regularly practiced hand hygiene is the most cost-effective method to protect oneself from COVID-19 infection (WHO, 2020).

Handwashing is a common intervention used to prevent communicable diseases (Ray, 2020).

Despite evidence showing how handwashing with soap is an effective method for reducing the spread of infectious diseases, poverty, limited access to soap and water, and overall lack of resources may limit one's ability to practice hand hygiene (West et al., 2020). Over 26% of the global population has no access to handwashing stations in their home, and for low-income countries this number rises to as high as 50% (WHO & UNICEF, 2021). In LMICs, 27% of the population had basic hand washing facilities with soap and water, while 26% had hand washing facilities lacking soap or water. The remaining 47% had no hand washing facility at all (WHO & UNICEF, 2021). Community-based organizations and nonprofit organizations, specifically those in WASH, working within these contexts during COVID-19 then must address not only existing

health impacts due to unsafe drinking water but also must manage the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

## Mask Wearing

Face masks are being worn to reduce the risk of airborne transmission of COVID19. Universal use of masks in health care facilities is needed to prevent transmission (Zar et al., 2020). However, one key challenge at the start of the pandemic was to effectively scale up medical grade mask supplies in LMICs given the limited number of available masks in supply (Zar et al., 2020). Using mathematical modeling, Worby & Chang (2020) investigated the role of face make use and distribution among the public. It was found that prioritizing masks for the elderly population, identified infectious cases, and medical staff led to a larger reduction in total infections compared to random distribution of masks throughout the general population. Some countries have seen an enormous demand for face masks from the public, and with limited supplies, there was an inequitable distribution of masks amongst society (Worby & Chang, 2020). There is no existing research to understand if mask distribution has been equitable in the WASH sector.

# **Quarantine** and Isolation

Quarantine and isolation both are protocols to help prevent exposure of people who have or may have a contagious disease to the public (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). However, the steps taken to prevent exposure differ from each other.

Quarantine is defined as the separation and restriction of movement of people who have potentially been exposed to a contagious disease, to reduce the risk of them infecting others.

While isolation is defined as the separation of people who has been diagnosed with the contagious disease from people who are not sick. However, the terminology has been used

interchangeably throughout this pandemic and therefore will be combined in this section (Brooks et al., 2020).

Not everyone can quarantine or isolate due to their living situation. In African countries, 50% or more of the population live in household with more than 6 people and do not have access to water in their dwelling plot, thus making quarantining at home nearly impossible (Brewer et al., 2021). These individuals could then not adhere to lockdown protocols or hand washing/ cleaning protocols as they would have to leave their dwelling to access water in search of a more central source of water. The need to collect water daily from such sources outside their dwelling or plot may also put these individuals at higher risk of contracting COVID-19.

# **Impact of the Pandemic**

# Mental and Emotional Health

Currently, interventions have been focused on the physical impacts and implications of COVID-19 but have rarely considered the psychological needs that may come up and the impacts on interpersonal relationships. With the change in lived experiences and social functioning, it is expected that there will be adverse mental health consequences. Inadequate and ever-changing information regarding COVID-19 transmission and treatment has shown an increase in fear and anxiety among the global population, lowered social interaction, and resulted in overall changes in behavioral patterns (Li et al., 2020; Ho et al., 2020).

Mental health outcomes during COVID-19 such as: increase in anxiety, insecurity and overall adverse psychological impacts seemed to be universal across demographics.

Qualitative research examining online search terms and mental health surveys associated with COVID-19 lockdowns analyzed mental health outcomes of 1,563 individuals living in lockdown in Hubei province, China. The research reported that individuals who were placed into lockdown

by the government or state, had higher than previously self-reported levels of negative mental health outcomes like anxiety and insecurity due to their loss of bodily autonomy and abrupt lifestyle change (Liu et al., 2020). This research was retrospective in nature as individuals were comparing their current mental health outcomes with mental health outcomes prior to lockdown. Researchers believe that the utilization of web-based surveys and mental health services helps to better understand the psychological toll that prevention measures take on individuals during the ongoing pandemic (Liu et al., 2020).

In addition, Wang et al. (2020) aimed to research the immediate psychological responses of the general population living in China in the initial stage of the pandemic. 1210 respondents from 194 cities in China took a general online survey assessing the psychological impact of COVID-19 and found that 53.8% rated the psychological impact of the outbreak as moderate or severe. (Wang et al., 2020). Additionally, 84.7% of respondents spent approximately 20 hours a day at home even though 60.8% of respondents had no physical symptoms. (Wang et al., 2020). Researchers have speculated that mass quarantine and lockdowns will raise anxiety across the general public for a number of reasons: increases the general anxiety of individuals, increases in individuals' feelings of loss of control and sense of being trapped, and increased spread of misinformation surrounding the medical impacts of COVID-19 (Rubin and Wessely, 2020).

Research has also found that at risk and marginalized groups have a higher prevalence of experiencing adverse mental health outcomes during COVID-19 pandemic. A systematic literature review explored how current at risk and marginalized groups among society are currently being impacted by the ongoing pandemic and found that healthcare professionals, elderly, children, college students, LGBTQ+ individuals, foreigners, people experiencing

homelessness, prisoners, and hospitalized patients are all more vulnerable to greater emotional, behavioral, and psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (Pedrosa et al., 2020).

Published research has not yet been done to understand impacts on mental health among WASH actors. Therefore, this literature review explores and highlights key findings from research focusing on healthcare professionals, elderly, and college students due to the similarities these groups may have with WASH, such as: the work in the healthcare field, quarantining/ isolating away from social support systems, and transition to work on Zoom or through other technology platforms.

#### Healthcare Workers

Healthcare workers were chosen as both healthcare workers and WASH actors played key roles in implementing prevention strategies to prevent and address COVID-19. Studies have acknowledged that specific populations such as health care workers and first responders may have more nuanced mental health responses to the ongoing pandemic due to their unique positionality based on their job. Current public health measures to address COVID-19 call for quarantine, social distancing, and adherence to PPE protocols for healthcare workers. Frontline healthcare workers are at an increased risk of contracting COVID-19 due to their heightened exposure. In addition, understaffed workforce and lack of medical infrastructure has forced many to work more shifts and longer hours, which have led to higher stress levels and sleep disturbances resulting in higher levels of depression and anxiety (Kar et al., 2020). A mixed methods study in Singapore conducted a public survey across with 1563 respondents. 50.7% of respondents reported an increase in depressive symptoms, and 44.7% reported an increase in anxiety symptoms (Ho et al., 2020). This study drew upon the public survey and called for more focused and intentional psychological support for healthcare workers as they will have more nuanced psychological distress symptoms as a result of their work (Ho et al., 2020).

Additionally, a quantitative study utilizing retrospective press media suicide reports analyzed 26 worldwide suicides amongst healthcare professionals (HCPs) during the ongoing pandemic and compared it to non-HCPs suicides (Jahan et al., 2021). Based on the findings, the most common reason for suicide in HCPs was fear of being infected by COVID-19. Other reasons for suicide were: fear of transmitting the virus to others, anxiety due to witnessing other's sufferings, and overall mental suffering. Comparing healthcare professionals' reasons for suicide to the general population, appears to be different; HCPs are more concerned with contracting COVID-19, followed by transmitting COVID-19 to others, while the general public suicide was related to economic distress (Jahan et al., 2021). HCPs who committed suicide in this study had a more nuanced interpretation of COVID-19 and researchers call for more direct support (Jahan et al., 2021).

Healthcare workers working directly with COVID-19 positive patients during the pandemic were found to have higher levels of perceived risk and fear. More specifically, a study examined the mediating roles of resilience and fear of COVID-19 among 204 healthcare professionals with a mean age of 32.92 years in Turkey (Yildirim et al., 2020). An online survey was utilized to collect measures related to mental health, resilience, risk and fear. Those with high levels of perceived risk were also more likely to experience fear and negative mental health symptoms (anxiety, depression, stress) (Yildirim et al., 2020). Individuals with higher levels of perceived risk and fear were more likely to opt into social distancing from their family which led to burnout consisting of both physical and mental symptoms. Resilience served as a mediator between coronavirus fear and mental health problems. These results are in line with earlier studies that had been done during other public health crises (Yildirim et al., 2020).

# **Elderly**

Elderly in assisted care homes were chosen to be explored further due to similarity of living arrangements compared to WASH actors working away from home in communities. Both groups were living away from their family and had decreased social support due to COVID-19 quarantine and isolation protocols. Elderly individuals are considered a high-risk group for COVID-19 and therefore have been instructed to remain at home and self-isolate as much as possible. Whereas WASH actors living in community separate from their home may have chosen to self-isolate to not put their families at an increased risk of COVID-19.

Individuals who live alone or do not have family and friends nearby may be at risk for losing social contact. Santini et al., conducted a longitudinal mediation analysis including individuals born between 1920 and 1947 in the USA measuring social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, depression, and anxiety symptoms (2020). It was reported that social disconnectedness predicted higher perceived isolation. Higher perceived isolation in turn predicted higher depression and anxiety symptoms (Santini et al., 2020). Elderly individuals whose only social contact is out of the home: daycares, community centers, places of worship, may then be at an increased risk for negative mental health outcomes (Pedrosa et al., 2020; Armitage and Nellums, 2020). Armitage and Nellums (2020) commented on Santini et al., stating that tailored interventions need to be made to further support elderly individuals during the ongoing pandemic. The need for tailored interventions and mental health support was built on existing research that has been done analyzing social disconnectedness and perceptions of social isolations amongst community residing adults between the ages of 57-85 (Santini et al., 2020). No research has been done analyzing if WASH actors working in community away from

their families will experience similar feelings of social isolation and social disconnectedness during the ongoing pandemic.

## College Students

College students have been chosen to be explored as their learning experience shifted to online learning during the pandemic which was similar to WASH actors shifting their work from on the ground to Zoom. This transition to utilizing Zoom and other technology puts an increased reliance on other social support networks as in person social interaction decreased for both groups. Due to the increased closure of schools, students who are studying far from family or traveled for college reported to be at an increased risk of developing negative mental health outcomes due to a decrease in social interaction and support (Pedrosa et al., 2020; Khan et al., 2020). In addition, a longitudinal study done looking at the impacts COVID-19 had on 1,179 young adults in college in the US before and during the COVID-19 pandemic reported that the pandemic tightened the link between lifestyle behaviors and depression (Giuntella et al., 2021). Lifestyle behaviors examined were average steps per day, hours of sleep per night, peer socialization per day, and screen time per day. Most notably reported regarding changes in lifestyle behaviors was that steps per day decreased by 50%, time spent socializing decreased by 50% and screen time increased by 200% (Guintella et al., 2021). Analyses then reported that as these lifestyle behaviors changed, the risk for clinical depression went up to a 90% increase in depression rates compared to the same population prior to the pandemic (Guintella et al., 2021). Additionally, the switch from in-person lectures to online learning may be an obstacle for students with inconsistent access to Wi-Fi and technology and may severely impact relationship building and overall behaviors of the individual (Pedrosa et al., 2020; Khan et al., 2020). No

research has been on the impacts of WASH actors who made the transition from in person work to Zoom work

#### WASH Actors

There is an overall lack of research being done on the mental health implications for WASH actors. However, drawing upon existing research allows us to hypothesize that WASH actors may experience adverse psychological impacts due to their change in workload, work environment, and decrease in social ties. In addition, research has failed to acknowledge how the continuous change in COVID-19 prevention recommendations impacts the mental health care of individuals responsible for the implementation of these prevention recommendations.

# Impacts of Prior Emergencies, Disasters, Pandemics on Mental Health

Impacts on mental health from prior experiences, disasters and pandemics can help to better understand current implications for mental health as well as how to potentially mitigate the negative mental health impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. Specific lessons learned related to the mental health implications from SARS, Ebola, Swine Flu and natural disasters will be further discussed in this section.

#### SARS

Studies done on the SARS outbreak, November 16, 2002 to January 13, 2004 (CDC, 2019) found that experiences of quarantine were associated with higher reports of pessimism, isolation, and depression. A mixed method study utilized an anonymous SARS stress related questionnaires to better gage the emotional and behavioral change of staff members in an East Taiwan hospital during the SARS outbreak (Bai et al., 2004). The 129 quarantined persons who responded to a Web-based survey exhibited a high prevalence of psychological distress.

28.9% of respondents had ymptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and 31.2% had

symptoms of depression (Bai et al., 2004). Longer durations of quarantine were associated with an increased prevalence of PTSD symptoms. Acquaintance with or direct exposure to someone with a diagnosis of SARS was also associated with PTSD and depressive symptoms. Staff members reported higher levels of stress, feeling stigmatization and rejection in their neighborhood due to their work, and reluctance to go home due to fear of placing their family at risk (Bai et al., 2004). In addition, a qualitative study using randomized telephone interview systems aimed to explore the post crisis psychological state of residents in Taiwan following the SARS epidemic. Participants self-reported having higher feelings of overall pessimism following the SARS epidemic. Higher feelings of pessimism were then also positively correlated to mood or other psychiatric morbidities (Peng et al., 2010).

Healthcare workers who responded to the SARS outbreak had higher levels of burnout, substance use and overall negative psychological impacts. A quantitative study took place two years after the SARS outbreak in two hospitals in Ontario Canada looking at long term personal impact of health care workers (HCWs) responding to probable SARS cases (Maunder et al., 2006). The two hospitals chosen were Toronto and Hamilton; Toronto had the highest prevalence of SARS cases in Canada and Hamilton was used as a comparison hospital as they did not have any identified SARS cases. All participants completed an anonymous survey which aimed to measure traumatic stress response, psychological distress, and professional burnout (Maunder et al., 2006). A higher proportion of Toronto participants reported significantly higher levels of burnout than the Hamilton comparison group. Additionally, these participants had higher scores of substance use, more days off work and overall higher levels of psychological stress (Maunder et al., 2006). These findings of higher burnout rate, higher substance use, and overall adverse psychological impacts then highlight the likelihood that HCWs and other

frontline responders will experience long-term adverse psychological complication due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Ebola

A scoping literature review was done to better understand the psychological impacts of Ebola at an individual, community, and international level (Van Bortel et al., 2016). Survivors of Ebola were more likely to experience feelings of shame, guilt, and blame. At the community level, a cyclical pattern of fear, loss of trust in health care, and decrease of community interactions occurred. Additionally, a communal sense of grief was experienced due to the high numbers of community members that passed away due to Ebola in such a short time frame. Health systems within communities were also impacted as health workers were overstretched due to limited health capacities. On an international level, there was an increase in blame and discrimination targeted towards countries highly populated by individuals perceived to be of African descent (Van Bortel et al., 2016).

In addition, research shows that health workers utilized peer support as their prime coping mechanism during Ebola. A qualitative study in Sierra Leone using 25 key informant interviews aimed to explore the challenges faced by health workers and their coping strategies during the 2014 Ebola outbreak (Raven et al., 2018). The study was conducted in four districts in Sierra Leone from March to May 2015. Participants discussed how there was a lack of preparedness in the health system to adequately manage the Ebola outbreak. Specifically, participants discussed how a lack of adequate instruments and supplies put both patients and staff at a higher risk of contracting Ebola during care. Psychological outcomes discussed were a breakdown of trust between healthcare workers and the community due to lack of information around Ebola transmission which led to feelings of isolation (Raven et al., 2018). The most

common reported coping strategy was increased utilization of peer support during the workday. Participants discussed how they didn't feel comfortable or safe to treat difficult and complex cases alone and therefore relied on a more group treatment approach (Raven et al., 2018). This study then highlights how a collaborative work dynamic plays a role in the coping strategies of participants during a highly stressful time frame.

#### Swine Flu

Misconceptions and rumors surrounding swine flu (H1N1) crisis led to public anxiety which impacted vaccine uptake rates. A case study of mental and behavioral interventions following the H1N1 crisis reported overall misconceptions that the public held during the crisis and how this impacted vaccine hesitancy. Reports showed that 20% more adults reported receiving the flu vaccine than the H1N1 vaccine, which may have been a result of miscommunication amongst the health sector to the larger society (Pfefferbaum et al., 2012). In addition, the limited quantity of antiviral medicine and vaccines, led to an increase in reported levels of anxiety, drug misuse, recklessness, and unsafe work practices amongst community members. Major lessons were that unchecked public anxiety can result in social consequences of noncompliance with public health directives, a surge in demand for care and complication in triage across health services and systems (Pfefferbaum et al., 2012).

# Natural Disasters

Natural disasters can lead to universal adverse psychological impacts across society. A systematic literature review explored how common occurrences during a natural disaster impacted mental health across society and reported that common responses include distress reactions and health risk behaviors (Morganstein and Ursano, 2020). For example, following the Wenchuan earthquake in 2008, 38.3% of adolescents reported sleep disturbances

12 months after the event with no significant reduction at 24 months post-event; sleep disturbance was associated with increased rates of depression and PTSD (Fan et al., 2017). This study then highlighted how a tragic experience may have general psychological implications across society.

# **Conclusion**

This literature review summarized the negative repercussions on mental health and overall wellbeing due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Overall, there is an increased risk of having negative psychological outcomes as a result of changes during the pandemic. However, current gaps in research are present when it comes to specifically analyzing the mental health of WASH actors and how their personal mental health has been impacted by COVID-19.

# **Chapter 2: Introduction**

COVID-19 is impacting the mental health of individuals. In March 2022, WHO stated there was a 25% increase in anxiety and depression globally due to the COVID-19 pandemic (World Health Organization, 2022b). According to the current analysis, the prevalence of stress is 29.6%, anxiety is 31.9%, and depression is 33.7% in the general population due to the ongoing pandemic (Salari et al., 2020). Those with existing mental health issues may have experienced worsening symptoms, while others might develop new mental health problems (Gunnell et al., 2020).

Current studies have found that health care workers and first responders may be at an increased risk for adverse mental health responses to the ongoing pandemic due to their job. In many countries, the existing medical infrastructure has not been able to meet increased demands, which has exacerbated existing work responsibilities and stressors (Kar et al., 2020) Lack of medical infrastructure and limited resources has meant that healthcare workers have not received adequate personal protective equipment (PPE) when working with COVID-positive patients. Healthcare workers have reported that they have an increased perceived risk of developing coronavirus due to inadequate PPE and personnel, which led to emotional and physical burnout (Goyal, K. et al.). Lack of PPE and unsafe work environments made it so healthcare workers feared to go home and many then chose to live away from family during the peak moments of COVID. Frontline healthcare workers have self-reported higher levels of depressive symptoms, anxiety, and sleep disturbances (Goyal, K. et al.)

While research has been done to identify the mental health impacts among frontline healthcare workers, there has been limited research to identify mental health impacts among others working to ensure population well-being, including those responding in the development

sector, particularly in low- and middle-income setting. WASH actors have been involved in designing, delivering coordinating or funding water, sanitation and hygiene-related interventions during the COVID-19 response. Hygiene practices such as handwashing with soap is one of the most important preventative strategies for COVID-19 (WHO 2020). For this reason, WASH actors play a critical role in hygiene promotion in relation to preventing COVID-19. WASH actors are also often the front-line workers in low- and middle-income communities and therefore play a key role in risk communication and community engagement. However, there has been no assessments of how the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the personal lives, including the mental health, of WASH actors.

This study aimed to explore the well-being of individuals working within the WASH sector and their personal experiences during the ongoing pandemic.

# **Chapter 3: Materials and Methods**

## Study Design:

This is a secondary analysis of data collected as part of a larger parent qualitative study that aimed to understand how implementors across the WASH sector designed, funded, delivered, coordinated, and monitored programs and activities in low- and middle-income countries during the COVID-19 pandemic. In-depth, semi-structured, key informant interviews (KIIs) were conducted from October 2020 to August 2021. The semi-structured format allowed for the objective comparison of participant data, while also providing an opportunity to spontaneously explore topics relevant to that participant (Hennink, 2011). Key informants were individuals from international organizations that work in the WASH sector and implemented interventions to change hygiene behaviors related to the prevention of COVID-19. KIIs were suitable as the research sought the emic perspective of participants (Hennink, 2011).

The data for this secondary analysis focuses specifically on data generated from responses to KII questions that asked participants how responding to COVID-19 as part of their job impacted their personal lives and well-being. Specifically, participants were asked how their approach to management and work relationships changed because of the pandemic, what challenges they faced during the pandemic, and their overall work-life balance.

# Participants Eligibility and Recruitment:

Participants were eligible for the parent study if they were over 18 years of age, had worked in the WASH sector prior to the World Health Organization (WHO) characterization of COVID-19 as a Pandemic (March 11, 2020), and were involved in COVID-19 response efforts. Interviews that did not collect data about personal impacts—whether due to time

constraints, not utilizing the tool with specific personal impact questions, or participant preference to not to provide answers—were excluded from the analysis.

Participants were recruited for the parent study using convenience sampling and were secondarily recruited through response-driven snowball sampling. Initially, the COVID-19 Hygiene Hub steering community and members of the research team developed an initial sampling frame of contacts (Hygiene Hub, 2021). Additional participants were added to the sampling frame based on the input or recommendation from already recruited participants. Three rounds of recruitment took place, with each round contacting a limited number of participants to not overwhelm scheduling. Before each round of recruitment, the research team looked at known background information of already engaged and potential participants, including the geographic area of residence, organization type, and type of hygiene programming, to identify potential participants who could contribute diversity to the sample. Researchers contacted potential participants via email, and if after three emails the participant did not respond, they were considered a refusal.

The parent study identified and contacted 178 potential participants. Among these, 79 people completed KII, with 26 (33%) providing responses to the questions about personal impacts of COVID-19. All 26 interviews are included in this analysis.

## Data Collection and Management:

Two researcher team members conducted KIIs remotely using Zoom, WhatsApp, Skype, or Microsoft Teams from October 2020 to August 2021 in three languages: English, French or Swahili. All recordings and interview transcripts were digitally recorded by Zoom. Recordings were first transcribed by OTTER.AI, an automatic transcription online service (Otter.ai, 2021). Then CA and MPS read and compared transcripts to original recordings to edit for accuracy. CA

and MPS also de-identified transcripts. All recordings and transcripts were stored electronically on a password-protected and encrypted cloud-based system hosted by Emory University.

Data Analysis:

After each parent study interview was conducted, memos and post-interview debriefs were completed by the research team. The research team periodically debriefed on the overall progress of the study and developing themes. Changes to the interview guide occurred as needed. During the transcription process of the parent study interviews, additional memos on key topics, emerging themes, and contrasting themes were made.

Data analysis started as soon as the initial data were collected. The analysis started with developing thematic memos and thick descriptions of the core themes. These thematic memos and thick descriptions were created to describe the phenomenon in each segment of data. Themes were then grouped into broader categories, including pandemic phases, successes and challenges, safety precautions and work environment, recommendations and lessons learned, as well as adaptation and coping. Using these broader categories, descriptions were written for each theme and subcategory. Themes with different meanings were left unchanged to increase the variety in the interpretation of data. Themes were then examined to understand the personal impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on WASH actors, as well as by subgroup based on work environment and family unit.

A codebook for this analysis was adapted from the one used for the parent study.

Additional codes were developed through an iterative inductive strategy after reviewing the first five transcripts and realizing more clarifying codes were needed to fully analyze the data.

Twelve additional codes were added to the overall codebook. MAXQDA was utilized to apply codes and analyze transcripts.

Analysis then gradually moved on to focus coding, in which the initial codes were concentrated on or collapsed into categories. The interpersonal interaction between participants and their colleagues, family and other social networks during COVID-19 was treated as the central phenomenon of interest. To explore comprehensively personal impact of participants, we decided to treat any personal challenge or success mentioned as a personal impact. Data was constantly compared on similarities and differences within a participant as well as across participants to develop links among the categorized themes. At the end of analysis, developed categories and links were reviewed to determine if they were grounded from data and sufficiently explained the phenomenon.

#### Ethics:

Study protocols were approved by both the Emory University Internal Review Board (IRB ID 00001144) and the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine Research Ethics Committee (London, England). Each participant was given an information sheet prior to the interview that explained the purpose of the study, potential risks, discomforts, and benefits resulting from participation, as well as how researchers would de-identify information to protect the anonymity of participants. All participants were over 18 years of age and voluntarily provided verbal consent at the beginning of each interview section. Verbal consent was recorded prior to all interviews.

# **Chapter 4: Results**

Participants varied in gender, years in WASH response and location. Out of the twenty-six participants included in this study, eighteen identified as male and eight identified as female. The minimum number of years working in the field was three years and the maximum was twenty years. Participants work varied from on the ground in country WASH response to international WASH lead working in headquarters. Participants country or region of work represented thirteen different countries: Iraq, Afghanistan, Canada, Indonesia, South Sudan, Nepal, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Nigeria, Syria, Kenya, Tanzania, Philippines, Rwanda. In addition, some participants qualified as global work, meaning they were working in more than one country.

Participants experienced both negative and positive personal impacts during the COVID-19 pandemic. Personal impacts experienced were interrelated with changes in work dynamics, familial support, or lack thereof, and personal characteristics. Coping mechanisms, or lack thereof, were also mentioned in context to how they impacted the overall personal experiences of the participants. Described below are reported negative health impacts positive impacts, and a description of factors influencing how people were impacted. Following all quotes are IDs utilizing gender and job role, for example (F, WASH community response) means the participant was female and position within the organization is WASH community response.

# Negative Mental Health impacts

#### Isolation/Loneliness

Many participants discussed how social distancing and quarantining protocols led to feelings of isolation and loneliness. These participants expressed how they felt distant from their social networks because they were quarantined in a city away from their family, unable to

go to work, and/or were not allowed to leave their apartments. Many said they spent a lot of time alone with their thoughts. Additionally, these participants were receiving an overwhelming amount of information every day about COVID and COVID protocols, but their immediate support systems (spouses, significant others, other family members) did not truly understand the impacts and severity of COVID, leading participants not only feeling physically isolated from support systems but also emotionally alone while navigating COVID-19 uncertainties.

Some participants discussed loneliness, working to overcome loneliness, and wanting to reconnect with community and family, but not knowing how to reconnect. A common sentiment expressed by participants was being "cut off with other social relations (F, WASH community response)" and an overall decrease in community with friends and social acquaintances due to COVID-19 safety protocols. They expressed how COVID had changed them as a person, and therefore even if they were to reconnect or reach out to friends, things would feel different because they had changed so much.

#### Anger/ Frustration

Some participants expressed feelings of anger and frustration related to the COVID-19 protocols and guidelines. Participants felt angry and frustrated because they had, 'lost a sense of agency and control around their day-to-day schedule' (M, WASH technical advisor). These individuals were used to having some flexibility and freedom regarding traveling for work. Often, they had sole autonomy in creating their travel schedule and work hours. However, with COVID, they were now being instructed what to do and what to follow by HQ and outside agencies. Majority of the participants working in country directly with communities were angered that HQ and outside agencies were regulating their work as they felt that they were the

experts and therefore their opinions should be taken into consideration when implementing organizational protocols.

Few participants also expressed anger and frustration when discussing their new job roles. Before COVID, these individuals spent a lot of time in the community working directly with community members. However, COVID protocols made it so that some organizations could no longer afford to have staff go to communities due to limited resources. Participants were now spending more of their time working from home or on Zoom meetings and expressed frustration at this change because they felt as though they needed to be in the communities now more than ever to truly support existing programs and implement new programs.

#### Fear

Few participants expressed feelings of fear about COVID-19 and rates of person-to-person transmission. They discussed how there was a lot of unknown factors surrounding COVID-19, which led them to feelings of uncertainty about contagiousness. Some participants disclosed how they were reading social media stories and headlines surrounding COVID-19 and how these stories often contradicted the information they were receiving from work. Participants were waking up and checking emails related to COVID-19 and they were falling asleep to news reports on the virus. Throughout the day participants were then consuming constant information regarding COVID-19 and the differences between news reports and work reports of the information around COVID-19 symptoms led to feelings of worry. Some participants reported that they even began to fear that the social media and news reports may have been more accurate since the information seemed to be more up to date than the internal work messaging they were receiving.

Some participants working directly with communities feared their job put them at a high risk of exposure to COVID-19. Participants discussed how they weren't afraid of getting sick themselves, but rather were afraid of increasing their family's risk of getting sick with COVID-19. To combat this fear, the few participants who did continue to work directly in communities chose to isolate themselves in their home from their families. The one participant who was not able to isolate in their home from their family due to limited space, discussed how the fear of contracting COVID-19 and exposing their family impacted their ability to do their job. The minority of participants who did get COVID-19 or whose close family members contracted COVID-19 discussed how they feared being the reason for their family members getting sick.

#### Burnout

The majority of participants expressed feeling burnt out and exhausted from their increase in workload and decrease in social interaction. These participants stated how they were used to face-to-face interaction with others- either with coworkers, local stakeholders, beneficiaries, or other community partners. This lack of social connection and increase in workload had many feeling exhausted by the end of the day. In addition, since participants were spending so much time at home and didn't have much else to do, they were working longer hours and never truly 'disconnecting from work (F, regional manager). Participants reported that there was constantly a Zoom meeting they had to join, new information they needed to write up, or new programs that needed to be implemented. This constant amount of work with ever changing work demands left many feeling as though they were never truly accomplishing anything. Some participants also discussed burnout in relation to feeling less satisfied with the work they were doing. Participants acknowledged that they felt as though they were not doing their best work

during the pandemic because they lacked sufficient time and resources to truly address the needs of the community they served.

## Positive Mental Health Impacts

The majority of participants also reflected on the positive impacts experienced during the ongoing pandemic. Participants attributed these positive mental health impacts to feelings connectedness and purpose.

#### Connectedness

A few participants expressed how Zoom positively impacted work dynamics and fostered a more collaborative environment. These participants felt that information was now more steadily shared and readily available across departments due to the increased collaboration that Zoom allowed. Additionally, the few participants who expressed that Zoom fostered connectedness in the workplace also acknowledged that Zoom meetings were not only being held to discuss work functions but that weekly Zoom meetings were being held specifically to foster and check in with colleagues. These meetings varied from virtual morning coffee check-in hours and lunch dates to dedicated team building events.

### Purpose

A limited number of participants expressed how the expansion of job roles and responsibilities allowed them to find new purpose and meaning within their roles. Due to COVID-19, participants' schedules greatly shifted. Participants spent less time in the field implementing programs and spent more time in brainstorming meetings. They expressed how being in these meetings allowed them to see a different side of program implementation and noted how during meetings they felt this was their opportunity to share their lived experiences

and better advocate on behalf of the communities they worked with. Those who expressed that this change led to greater purpose had only been in their role between 3-5 years.

Being in these meetings inspired some participants to go back to school or start their own organization. These limited number of participants shared how they wanted a more active role in the decision-making process and acknowledged that they wanted to pursue job growth. These participants were then inspired and wanted to have a more active role in implementing programs that could address gaps and equities present.

## Factors influencing COVID-19 Personal Impacts

Participants spoke about different factors that influenced their personal experiences during the ongoing pandemic, including previous job roles, personality traits, relationship with family, ability to stay physically active, and adoption of new hobbies. The majority of participants mentioned how the influence of these factors changed throughout the pandemic.

### Previous Job Roles

The few participants who had ongoing experience with crises or humanitarian responses did not discuss negative impacts of COVID-19 on their personal life, but rather spoke about how COVID-19 response was solely apart of their job. These individuals reported how when they heard the news of COVID-19 they knew they would have to respond and therefore saw this as part of their duty as public health practitioners to prepare themselves so that they would be able to better meet their job's demands. They spoke about how the expansion in their job role was just par for the course when addressing humanitarian crisis.

# Personality

Some participants spoke about how their natural personality or temperament positively impacted how they coped with COVID-19. These individuals specifically reflected on

how their natural optimistic attitude and spirit made it so that COVID-19 did not negatively impact them as much as it did for their colleagues and family. Rather than view COVID-19 as a negative thing, these participants spoke about how their personality helped them to realize how COVID-19 provided them with new opportunities, including new job roles and experiences and more intentional time with family. This small group of participants reflected on how their consistent optimistic personality and ability to see the good in things allowed them to better cope with the ongoing changes of the pandemic since their internal state of mind remained consistent.

# Family

Some participants expressed the increase in family time as a positive impact experienced during the pandemic. Prior to the pandemic, participants utilized peers and colleagues for support during a difficult workday. However, some participants now acknowledged that their primary support switched from peers and colleagues to family members due to working from home. After long or difficult workdays, these participants would then unwind by playing with their children or having meaningful conversations with their significant others. A few participants reported how they would now spend their lunch hour playing with their kids or eating with their significant other, as a way to decompress after a long or stressful workday.

A few participants saw the increase in family time as an emotional strain during COVID-19. Participants with small children who were doing Zoom school acknowledged that the increase in time being home also meant an increase in roles and responsibilities within the family unit. These individuals then felt further stress because their workday was no longer solely focused on work but rather was now split between 'being a teacher and working on projects' (F, WASH technical advisor).

### Staying Active

Staying active contributed to stress relief during the pandemic, and the inability to be active led to increased feelings of anxiety. The majority of participants discussed how going outside for walks to disconnect from work and reconnect with the outside world was a positive influence on their stress levels. Participants felt that they spent their entire day on the computer and in Zoom meetings and therefore thought it was important to get a break from technology when possible. In addition, some participants discussed how prior to the pandemic, working out had been a major source of stress relief. These participants expressed how they could no longer work out how they normally would, and therefore took short walks around the block after Zoom meetings and during lunch breaks. Some participants who were not able to go on long runs or bike rides due to COVID-19 protocols, shifted their exercise and instead did at home workouts. Some participants discussed how when they were unable to work out, they experienced higher levels of anxiety. They explained these feelings were a result of no longer being able to leave their apartment due to COVID-19 protocols, preventing them from truly unwinding or resting after a workday.

#### New Hobbies

Participants discussed how they picked up new hobbies because coping mechanisms utilized prior to COVID-19 no longer worked and could no longer be utilized due to time restraints and quarantine procedures. One hobby discussed was music. One participant started to play the guitar after long work hours as a way to refocus and cope with the increased workload. A few participants discussed beginning gardening and home improvement projects during the ongoing pandemic. These hobbies were solely utilized on the weekend.

## **Chapter 5: Discussion**

The aim of this study was to understand how WASH actors were personally impacted during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. When participants reflected on the personal impact of COVID-19, they did so by discussing both the positive and negative results experienced during the ongoing pandemic. In addition, majority of participants reflected on how the pandemic led to both positive and negative experiences. Through an analysis of the IDIs, the participants had highly varied experiences throughout the ongoing pandemic. The circumstances surrounding their living environment, current marital status, and support from social networks, such as peers, colleagues, and family members, were important factors that shaped the participant's lived experiences.

Some participants experienced higher levels of connectedness when utilizing Zoom in the workplace, a finding that contrasts with prior qualitative research done analyzing the experiences of people practicing physical distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK (McKenna-Plumley et al., 2021) McKenna-Plumley et al., research found that participants felt digital social interaction was inferior to in person social interactions (McKenna-Plumley et al., 2021). Increased digital access and intentional online contact may then be one way to limit feelings of perceived loneliness. Further research should then be done to better understanding both the negative and positives perceived of online contact so that benefits can be leveraged, and negatives can be reduced.

The majority of participants experienced burnout in relation to their job at one point or another during the ongoing pandemic, an experience that seems to be universal during COVID-19. Teachers in Canada were surveyed at the beginning of the COVID-19 and results showed that participants were functioning at a level of exhaustion that could be interpreted as the early

stages of burnout (Sokal et al., 2020). In addition, it was found that as job demands increased, the self-reported survey scores for burnout and exhaustion also increased (Sokal et al., 2020). Frontline nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic in Istanbul reported high levels of stress and burnout (Murat et al., 2021). Interventions and support mechanisms need to be implemented in the work environment to lower job related burnout, especially during unprecedented times of high stress and high work demand.

Governmental restrictions and quarantine protocols led to participants feeling a loss of agency and autonomy over decision making; prior research shows these feelings may negatively impact an individual's adherence to COVID-19 safety protocols. Brailovskaia and Margaf conducted online surveys in Germany and found that adherence to COVID-19 safety protocols was impacted by sense of control (2022). Individuals with low sense of control were at a higher risk of interpreting COVID-19 rules as a negative, making them less likely to adapt (Brailovskaia & Margraf, 2022). This corresponds to earlier research that found that people with high sense of control have low level of anxiety, which led them to interpret stressful situations as something they can manage rather than something they should fear (Southwick et al., 2014). Thus, it can be considered that participants who expressed a lack of control around decision making may be less likely to follow COVID-19 protocols because they are also experiencing increased fear of the unknown. Further research should then be done to better understand the role of perceived agency and autonomy in adhering to governmental protocols, and information should be leveraged to increase individual's adherence to safety protocols.

The following limitations of the study should be considered. This study took place during a narrow time frame during the pandemic, and therefore the full array of personal and mental health impacts from COVID-19 may not have been adequately captured. These findings could,

however, reflect the sentiments of development actors working in similar conditions as the WASH actors. The study did not have an entire in-depth interview focused on mental health and therefore some findings may be lacking. It is then possible that our study did not fully reach saturation. However, by utilizing Zoom, this study allowed participants to share their personal experiences, who otherwise would not have been able to not only due to COVID-19 but also given the multiple locations of those being interviewed.

Positive and negative experiences such as connectedness and burnout, respectively, coping mechanisms, quarantine protocols and safety procedures are just some of the examples of the personal impacts WASH actors face during the ongoing pandemic.

## **Chapter 6: Public Health Implications**

Further research should also continue to examine the evolution of coping mechanisms utilized during highly stressful events with an aim towards reducing negative mental health impacts and improving overall mental health status of society. Finally, further research should continue to explore the experiences and perceptions of WASH actors, as well as developmental actors in general, including how they desire to receive information and services, and what matters most to them in the context of support. For example, this project identified that intentional and tailored team building over Zoom increased participants feelings of connectedness and decreased levels of stress and anxiety. Further research can consider what role technology plays in community building and compare across platforms the effectiveness of strategies.

#### References

- Armitage, R., & Nellums, L. B. (2020). COVID-19 and the consequences of isolating the elderly.

  The Lancet Public Health, 5(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(20)30061-x
- Atiyeh, B. S., Gunn, S. W. A., & Hayek, S. N. (2010). Provision of essential surgery in remote and rural areas of developed as well as low and middle income countries. *International Journal of Surgery*, 8(8), 581–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.07.291
- Bai, Y., Lin, C.-C., Lin, C.-Y., Chen, J.-Y., Chue, C.-M., & Chou, P. (2004). Survey of Stress Reactions Among Health Care Workers Involved With the SARS Outbreak. *Psychiatric Services*, 55(9), 1055–1057. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.55.9.1055
- Brailovskaia, J., & Margraf, J. (2022). Relationship between sense of control, psychological burden, sources of information and adherence to anti-COVID-19 rules. *Journal of Affective Disorders Reports*, 8, 100317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadr.2022.100317
- Brewer, T. F., Zhang, M., Gordon, D., Chung, R. Y.-N., Dejene, N., Fonta, C. L., Grieve, T., Halleröd, B., Harris, R., Lanau, A., Leibbrandt, M., Mekonen, Y., Muguni, B., Najera, H., Nandy, S., & Heymann, S. J. (2021). Housing, sanitation and living conditions affecting SARS-CoV-2 prevention interventions in 54 African countries. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 149, e183. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268821001734
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: Rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395(10227), 912–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8

- CDC. (2019). *CDC SARS Response Timeline*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/about/history/sars/timeline.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/about/history/sars/timeline.htm</a>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *Quarantine and Isolation*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/quarantine/index.html
- Ciotti, M., Ciccozzi, M., Terrinoni, A., Jiang, W.-C., Wang, C.-B., & Bernardini, S. (2020). The COVID-19 Pandemic. *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences*, *57*(6), 365–388. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408363.2020.1783198
- Fan, F., Zhou, Y., & Liu, X. (2017). Sleep Disturbance Predicts Posttraumatic Stress Disorder and Depressive Symptoms. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 78(7), 882–888. https://doi.org/10.4088/jcp.15m10206
- Frontline Health Workers. (2014, August 4). Frontline Health Workers Coalition. https://www.frontlinehealthworkers.org/frontline-health-workers
- Galea, S., Merchant, R. M., & Lurie, N. (2020). The Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 and Physical Distancing: the Need for Prevention and Early Intervention. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 180(6), 817–818. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562
- Gillet, N., Caesens, G., Morin, A. J. S., & Stinglhamber, F. (2019). Complementary variable- and person-centred approaches to the dimensionality of work engagement: a longitudinal investigation. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 28(2), 239–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2019.1575364
- Giuntella, O., Hyde, K., Saccardo, S., & Sadoff, S. (2021). Lifestyle and mental health disruptions during COVID-19. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(9), e2016632118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2016632118

- Goyal, K., Chauhan, P., Chhikara, K., Gupta, P., & Singh, M. P. (2020). Fear of COVID 2019: First suicidal case in India! *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49, 101989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2020.101989
- Gunnell, D., Appleby, L., Arensman, E., Hawton, K., John, A., Kapur, N., Khan, M., O'Connor, R. C., Pirkis, J., Appleby, L., Arensman, E., Caine, E. D., Chan, L. F., Chang, S.-S., Chen, Y.-Y., Christensen, H., Dandona, R., Eddleston, M., Erlangsen, A., & Gunnell, D. (2020). Suicide risk and prevention during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30171-1
- Gwenzi, W. (2021). Leaving no stone unturned in light of the COVID-19 faecal-oral hypothesis?

  A water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) perspective targeting low-income countries.

  Science of the Total Environment, 753, 141751.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141751
- Hamid, H., Abid, Z., Amir, A., Rehman, T. U., Akram, W., & Mehboob, T. (2020). Current burden on healthcare systems in low- and middle-income countries: recommendations for emergency care of COVID-19. *Drugs & Therapy Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40267-020-00766-2
- Hennink, M. M., Hutter, I., & Bailey, A. (2011). Qualitative research methods. London: SAGE.
- Ho, C. S., Chee, C. Y., & Ho, R. C. (2020). Mental health strategies to combat the psychological impact of COVID-19 beyond paranoia and panic. *Ann Acad Med Singapore*, 49(1), 1-3.
- Holmes, E. A., O'Connor, R. C., Perry, V. H., Tracey, I., Wessely, S., Arseneault, L., Ballard,
  C., Christensen, H., Cohen Silver, R., Everall, I., Ford, T., John, A., Kabir, T., King, K.,
  Madan, I., Michie, S., Przybylski, A. K., Shafran, R., Sweeney, A., & Worthman, C. M.
  (2020). Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for

- action for mental health science. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(6), 547–560. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30168-1
- Hygiene Hub COVID-19. (2021). Hygiene Hub. https://www.hygienehub.info/en/covid-19
- Itani, M. H., Eltannir, E., Tinawi, H., Daher, D., Eltannir, A., & Moukarzel, A. A. (2021). Severe Social Anxiety Among Adolescents During COVID-19 Lockdown. *Journal of Patient Experience*, 8, 237437352110383. https://doi.org/10.1177/23743735211038386
- Jahan, I., Ullah, I., Griffiths, M. D., & Mamun, M. A. (2021). COVID-19 suicide and its causative factors among the healthcare professionals: Case study evidence from press reports. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12739
- Kar, S. K., Yasir Arafat, S. M., Kabir, R., Sharma, P., & Saxena, S. K. (2020). Coping with Mental Health Challenges During COVID-19. Medical Virology: From Pathogenesis to Disease Control, 199–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-4814-7\_16
- Khan, K. S., Mamun, M. A., Griffiths, M. D., & Ullah, I. (2020). The Mental Health Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic Across Different Cohorts. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00367-0
- Li, W., Yang, Y., Liu, Z.-H., Zhao, Y.-J., Zhang, Q., Zhang, L., Cheung, T., & Xiang, Y.-T.
   (2020). Progression of Mental Health Services during the COVID-19 Outbreak in China.
   International Journal of Biological Sciences, 16(10), 1732–1738.
   https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45120
- Liu, S., Yang, L., Zhang, C., Xiang, Y. T., Liu, Z., Hu, S., & Zhang, B. (2020). Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak. *The lancet. Psychiatry*, 7(4), e17–e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30077-8

- Maunder, R. G., Lancee, W. J., Balderson, K. E., Bennett, J. P., Borgundvaag, B., Evans, S.,
  Fernandes, C. M., Goldbloom, D. S., Gupta, M., Hunter, J. J., McGillis Hall, L., Nagle,
  L. M., Pain, C., Peczeniuk, S. S., Raymond, G., Read, N., Rourke, S. B., Steinberg, R. J.,
  Stewart, T. E., VanDeVelde-Coke, S., ... Wasylenki, D. A. (2006). Long-term
  psychological and occupational effects of providing hospital healthcare during SARS
  outbreak. *Emerging infectious diseases*, 12(12), 1924–1932.
  https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1212.060584
- McKenna-Plumley, P. E., Graham-Wisener, L., Berry, E., & Groarke, J. M. (2021). Connection, constraint, and coping: A qualitative study of experiences of loneliness during the COVID-19 lockdown in the UK. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(10), e0258344. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0258344
- Mor, N. (2020, May 14). *In developing countries, communities and primary care providers—not hospitals—hold the key to successful pandemic response*. Brookings. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2020/05/14/in-developing-countries-communities-and-primary-care-providers-not-hospitals-hold-the-key-to-successful-pandemic-response/
- Moreno, C., Wykes, T., Galderisi, S., Nordentoft, M., Crossley, N., Jones, N., Cannon, M.,
  Correll, C. U., Byrne, L., Carr, S., Chen, E. Y. H., Gorwood, P., Johnson, S., Kärkkäinen,
  H., Krystal, J. H., Lee, J., Lieberman, J., López-Jaramillo, C., Männikkö, M., & Phillips,
  M. R. (2020). How mental health care should change as a consequence of the COVID-19
  pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30307-2

- Morganstein, Joshua C., and Robert J. Ursano. "Ecological Disasters and Mental Health: Causes, Consequences, and Interventions." *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, vol. 11, 2020, p. 1. *Frontiers*, <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00001">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00001</a>.
- Murat, M., Köse, S., & Savaşer, S. (2021). Determination of stress, depression and burnout levels of front-line nurses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 30(2), 533-543.
- Otter.ai. (2021). Otter Voice Meeting Notes. Otter Voice Meeting Notes. https://otter.ai/
- Pal, M., Ayele, Y., Hadush, M., Panigrahi, S., & Jadhav, V. J. (2018). Public health hazards due to unsafe drinking water. *Air Water Borne Dis*, 7(1000138), 2.
- Pasquale, S., Gregorio, G. L., Caterina, A., Francesco, C., Beatrice, P. M., Vincenzo, P., & Caterina, P. M. (2021). COVID-19 in Low- and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs): A Narrative Review from Prevention to Vaccination Strategy. *Vaccines*, 9(12), 1477. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9121477
- Pedrosa, Ana Luisa, et al. "Emotional, Behavioral, and Psychological Impact of the COVID-19

  Pandemic." Frontiers in Psychology, vol. 11, Oct. 2020, p. 566212. PubMed Central,

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566212">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.566212</a>.
- Peng, E. Y.-C., Lee, M.-B., Tsai, S.-T., Yang, C.-C., Morisky, D. E., Tsai, L.-T., Weng, Y.-L., & Lyu, S.-Y. (2010). Population-based Post-crisis Psychological Distress: An Example From the SARS Outbreak in Taiwan. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 109(7), 524–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0929-6646(10)60087-3
- Peters, D. H., Garg, A., Bloom, G., Walker, D. G., Brieger, W. R., & Hafizur Rahman, M. (2008). Poverty and Access to Health Care in Developing Countries. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1136(1), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1425.011

- Pfefferbaum, B., Schonfeld, D., Flynn, B. W., Norwood, A. E., Dodgen, D., Kaul, R. E., Donato,
  D., Stone, B., Brown, L. M., Reissman, D. B., Jacobs, G. A., Hobfoll, S. E., Jones, R. T.,
  Herrmann, J., Ursano, R. J., & Ruzek, J. I. (2012). The H1N1 Crisis: A Case Study of the
  Integration of Mental and Behavioral Health in Public Health Crises. *Disaster Medicine*and Public Health Preparedness, 6(1), 67–71. https://doi.org/10.1001/dmp.2012.2
- "Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene." World Health Organization, UNICEF.

  2017 <a href="https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2017/launch-version-report-jmp-water-sanitation-hygiene.pdf">https://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2017/launch-version-report-jmp-water-sanitation-hygiene.pdf</a>
- Progress on household drinking water, sanitation and hygiene 2000-2020: five years into the SDGs. Geneva: World Health

  Organization (WHO) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2021. Licence:

  CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- Ray, I. (2020). Viewpoint Handwashing and COVID-19: Simple, right there...? *World Development*, *135*, 105086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105086
- Raven, J., Wurie, H. & Witter, S. Health workers' experiences of coping with the Ebola epidemic in Sierra Leone's health system: a qualitative study. *BMC Health Serv Res* **18**, 251 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3072-3
- Rubin, G. J., & Wessely, S. (2020). The psychological effects of quarantining a city. *BMJ*, *368*, m313. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m313
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., Mohammadi, M., Rasoulpoor, S., & Khaledi-Paveh, B. (2020). Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and

- meta-analysis. *Globalization and Health*, *16*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- Santini, Z. I., Jose, P. E., York Cornwell, E., Koyanagi, A., Nielsen, L., Hinrichsen, C., Meilstrup, C., Madsen, K. R., & Koushede, V. (2020). Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and symptoms of depression and anxiety among older Americans (NSHAP): a longitudinal mediation analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, *5*(1), e62–e70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30230-0
- Sokal, L. J., Trudel, L. G. E., & Babb, J. C. (2020). Supporting Teachers in Times of Change:

  The Job Demands- Resources Model and Teacher Burnout During the COVID-19

  Pandemic. *International Journal of Contemporary Education*, 3(2), 67.

  https://doi.org/10.11114/ijce.v3i2.4931
- Southwick, S. M., Bonanno, G. A., Masten, A. S., Panter-Brick, C., & Yehuda, R. (2014).

  Resilience definitions, theory, and challenges: Interdisciplinary

  perspectives. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, *5*(1), 25338.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v5.25338">https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v5.25338</a>
- Strengthening water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) systems. (n.d.). Www.unicef.org. https://www.unicef.org/wash/strengthening-systems
- UNICEF. (2021). Water, Sanitation and Hygiene. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/wash
- Van Bortel, T., Basnayake, A., Wurie, F., Jambai, M., Koroma, A. S., Muana, A. T., Hann, K., Eaton, J., Martin, S., & Nellums, L. B. (2016). Psychosocial effects of an Ebola outbreak at individual, community and international levels. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 94(3), 210–214. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.15.158543

- Wang, C., Pan, R., Wan, X., Tan, Y., Xu, L., Ho, C. S., & Ho, R. C. (2020). Immediate

  Psychological Responses and Associated Factors during the Initial Stage of the 2019

  Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Epidemic among the General Population in China.

  International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(5), 1729. MDPI

  AG. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17051729
- West, R., Michie, S., Rubin, G. J., & Amlôt, R. (2020). Applying principles of behaviour change to reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0887-9
- WHO. (2020, October 15). *Handwashing an effective tool to prevent COVID-19, other diseases*.

  Www.who.int. <a href="https://www.who.int/southeastasia/news/detail/15-10-2020-handwashing-an-effective-tool-to-prevent-covid-19-other-diseases">https://www.who.int/southeastasia/news/detail/15-10-2020-handwashing-an-effective-tool-to-prevent-covid-19-other-diseases</a>
- Williams, S. N., Armitage, C. J., Tampe, T., & Dienes, K. (2020). Public perceptions and experiences of social distancing and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic:

  A UK-based focus group study. *BMJ Open*, 10(7), e039334.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039334">https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039334</a>
- Worby, C. J., & Chang, H.-H. (2020). Face mask use in the general population and optimal resource allocation during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature Communications*, 11(1), 4049. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17922-x
- World Health Organization. (2022a). *WHO COVID-19 dashboard*. World Health Organization. https://covid19.who.int/
- World Health Organization. (2022b, March 2). COVID-19 pandemic triggers 25% increase in prevalence of anxiety and depression worldwide. Www.who.int.

- https://www.who.int/news/item/02-03-2022-covid-19-pandemic-triggers-25-increase-in-prevalence-of-anxiety-and-depression-worldwide
- Yıldırım, M., Arslan, G., & Özaslan, A. (2020). Perceived Risk and Mental Health Problems among Healthcare Professionals during COVID-19 Pandemic: Exploring the Mediating Effects of Resilience and Coronavirus Fear. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-020-00424-8
- Zar, H. J., Dawa, J., Fischer, G. B., & Castro-Rodriguez, J. A. (2020). Challenges of COVID-19 in children in low- and middle-income countries. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prrv.2020.06.016